


Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC"), for its Complaint alleges: 

1. The FTC brings this action under Sections l3(b) and 19 of tile Federal Trade 

Commission Act ("FTC Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 53(b} and 5711, and the Telemarketing and 

Consumer Fraud and Abuse Preveution 



5. The FTC 



Management Group Inc. transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout 

the United States. 

10. Defendant David D. Richards ("Richards") is an officer and/or director of 

Direct Financial Management Inc. At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in 

concert 



Defendant Foley, in connection with the matters alleged herein, transacts or has transacted 

business in this district and throughout the United States. 

14. Defendants Direct Financial Management Inc., 2194673 Ontario Inc., F&F 

Payment Processing Inc., and Bajada Management Group Inc. (collectively, "Corporate 

Defendants") have operated as a common enterprise while engaging in the unlawful acts and 

practices alleged below. Defendants have conducted the business practices described below 

through an interrelated network of companies that have common managers, business 

functions, employees, office locations, and have commingled funds. Because Corporate 

Defendants have operated as a common enterprise, each ofthem is jointly and severally 

liable for the acts and practices alleged below. Individual Defendants David D. Richards, 

Baird B. Fisher, Jacqueline M. Fisher, and Joseph B. Foley have formulated, directed, 

controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in the acts and practices of the 

Corporate Defendants that constitute the common enterprise. 

15. In operating the common enterprise and engaging in the unlawful acts and 

practices described below, Defendants have also used at least the following business names: 

Direct Financial Savings, Direct Financial, AFL Financial Services, Elite Choice Financial, 

Elite-AFL Financial Services, First Choice Financial, Freedom Choice Financial, Affiliated 

Financial Services, Direct Services Group, AFS Services Ltd., CDC Management Services, 

and Insight Management Services. 
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COMMERCE 

16. At all times material to this Complaint, Defendants have maintained a 

substantial course of trade in or affecting commerce, as "commerce" is defined in Section 4 

ofthe FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44. 

DEFENDANTS' BUSINESS ACTIVlTIES 

J 7. Since at least 2007, Defendants have telemarketed credit card interest rate 

reduction services to consumers nationwide in the United States. In many instances, 

Defendants' telemarketing calls are initiated using a telemarketing service that delivers 

prerecorded voice messages, known as "voice broadcasting" or "robocalling." The 

prerecorded messages often offer consumers the purported opportunity to secure 

substantially lower credit card interest rates and instruct consumers to press a number on 

their phone to be connected to a live representative. Defendants also market their program 

via the lnternet on several websites, including www.directfinancialsavin~s.com. 

www.aflfinancial.com, www.fchoicefinancial.com, www.freedomchoiceservices.info, 

www.afliliatedservices.info, www.directservicesgrp.info, www.afsservicesltd.info, 

www.insi~ht-mana~ement.net, and www.cdc-mana~ement.net. 

18. During telemarketing calls, Defendants often identify themselves as 

representatives of "Card Services" or some other generic business name. Defendants claim 

to have the ability to reduce substantially consumers' credit card interest rates. Defendants 

also claim that their interest rate reduction services will provide substantial savings to 

6 



consumers, typically 



request verbally) that the credit card companies reduce the consumers' credit card interest 

rates. This is a task that consumers could easily perform themselves. The credit card 

companies typically decline the request, and the call ends. These three-way telephone calls 

are often the total extent of Defendants' credit card interest rate reduction services. 

24. In numerous instances, Defendants fail to provide consumers with the 

significant reductions in credit card interest rates and minimum savings that were promised 

during the initial telephone calls, and they typically fail to provide any reduction in 

consumers' credit card interest rates at alL Consequently, consumers are not able to pay their 

credit card debts faster than they could have without Defendants' service. 

25. Despite Defendants' failure to deliver the promised credit card interest rate 

reductions, and resulting savings, and their guarantee of a full refund if they fail to deliver 

those reductions, Defendants rarely refund the fees that they charge to consumers' credit 

cards. 

26. While telemarketing their program, Defendants, acting directly Dr through one 

or more intermediaries, have made numerous calls to telephone numbers on the National Do 

Not Call Registry. 

27. Defendants, acting directly or through one or more intermediaries, have made 

numerous outbound telemarketing calls in which they failed to connect tlle call to a sales 

representative within two (2) seconds of the call recipient's completed greeting. Instead of 

connecting the call to a sales representative, Defendants, acting directly or through tlleir 

telemarketers, have delivered a prerecorded voice message to the call recipient. 
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28. In numerous instances, Defendants, acting directly or through 



program, Defendants have represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, 

that: 

A. Defendants will substantially lower consumers' credit card interest 

rates in all or virtually all instances; 

B. Defendants will save consumers thousands of dollars in a short time in 

all or virtually all instances as a result oflowered credit card interest 

rates; 

C. Defendants will enable consumers to pay off their debts much faster, 

typically three to five times faster, in all or virtually all instances, as a 

result oflowered credit card interest rates; and 

D. Defendants will provide full refunds if consumers do not save 

tlJOusands of dollars in a short time as a result oflowered credit card 

interest rates. 

33. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances in which Defendants have made the 

representations set forth in Paragraph 32 of this Complaint: 

A. Defendants did not substantially lower consumers' credit card interest 

rates; 

B. Defendants did not save consumers tllOusands of dollars in a short 

time as a result oflowered credit card interest rates; 
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C. Defendants did not enable consumers to payoff their debts much 

faster, typically three to five times faster, as a result of lowered credit 

card interest rates; and 

D. Defendants did not provide full refunds when consumers did not save 

thousands of dollars in a short time as a result oflowered credit card 

interest rates. 

34. Therefore, Defendants' representations as set forth in Paragraph 32 of this 

Complaint are false and misleading and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of 

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 

the 



37. The TSR prohibits telemarketers and sellers from misrepresenting, directly or 

by implication, in the sale of goods or services, any material aspect of the performance, 

efficacy, nature, or central characteristics ofthe goods or services that are the subject of a 

sales offer. 16 C.F.R. § 31O.3(a)(2)(iii). 

38. The TSR prohibits sellers and telemarketers from misrepresenting, directly or 

by implication, in the sale of goods or services, any material aspect of by efficacy, 



42. The TSR requires telemarketers in an outbound telephone call to disclose 

truthfully, promptly, and in a clear and conspicuous manner, the following information: 

A. The identity of tile seller; 

B. That ilie purpose of ilie call is to sell goods or services; and 

C. The nature ofilie goods or services. 

16 C.F.R. § 310.4(d)(l), (2), and (3). 

43. Since December 1,2008, ilie TSR has prohibited a telemarketer from 

engaging, and a seller from causing a telemarketer to engage, in initiating an outbound 

telephone call iliat delivers a prerecorded message unless ilie message promptly discloses: 

A. The identity ofille seller; 

B. That ilie purpose of tile call is to sell goods or services; and 

C. The nature ofilie goods or services. 

16 C.FR. § 310.4(b)(l)(v)(B)(ii). 

44. As amended, effective September 1,2009, ilie TSR prohibits initiating a 

telephone calltimt delivers a prerecorded message to induce ilie purchase of any good or 

service unless ilie seller has obtained from ilie recipient of the call an express agreement, in 

writing, iliat evidences ilie willingness ofilie recipient ofilie call to receive calls Umt deliver 

prerecorded messages by or on behalf of a specific seller. The express agreement must 

include ilie recipient's telephone number and signature, must be obtained after a clear after t o  
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indirectly, tllat the agreement be executed as a condition of purchasing any good or service. 

16 C.F.R. § 310.4(b)(1)(v)(A). 

45. Pursuant to Section 3(c) of the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.c. § 6102(c), and 

Section 18(d)(3) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 57a(d)(3), a violation oftlle TSR constitutes an 

unfair or deceptive act or practice in or affecting commerce, in violation of Section 5(a) of 

the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE TELEMARKETING SALES RULE 

COUNT TWO 

Misrepresentations in Violation of the TSR 

46. In numerous instances, in fue course oftelemarketing goods and services, 

Defendants have misrepresented, directly or by implication, that: 

A. Defendants will substantially lower consumers' credit card interest 

rates in all or virtually all instances; 

B. Defendants will save consumers thousands of dollars in a short time in 

all or virtually all instances as a result of lowered credit card interest 

rates; and 

C. Defendants will enable consumers to payoff their debts much faster, 

typically three to five times faster, in all or virtually all instances, as a 

result oflowered credit card interest rates. 

47. Defendants' acts and practices, as described in Paragraph 46 above, are 

deceptive telemarketing acts or practices that violate the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 31 0.3 (a)(2)(iii). 

14 



COUNT TImEE 

Refund Misrepresentations in Violation of the TSR 

48. In numerous instances, in the course oftelemarketing goods and services, 

Defendants have misrepresented, directly or by implication, that Defendants will provide full 

refunds if consumers do not save thousands of dollars in a short time as a result of lowered 

credit card interest rates. 

49. Defendants' acts and practices, as described in Paragraph 48 above, are 

deceptive telemarketing acts or practices that violate the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 31O.3(a)(2)(iv). 

COUNT FOUR 

Violating the National Do Not Call Registry 

50. In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing, Defendants have 

engaged, or caused a telemarketer to engage, in initiating ao outbound telephone call to a 

person's telephone numher on the National Do Not Call Registry in violation of the TSR, 

16 C.F.R. § 31 O.4(b)(1)(iii)(B). 

COUNTFlVE 

Abandoning Calls 

51. In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing, Defendants have 

abandoned, or caused a telemarketer to abandon, ao outbound telephone call by failing to 

connect the call to a sales representative within two (2) seconds of the completed greeting of 

the person aoswering the call, in violation of the TSR, 16 31 C.F.R. 

§  O . 4 ( b ) ( 1 v ) ( B ) .  



COUNT SIX 

Failing to Malee Required Oral Disclosures 

52. In numerous instances, in the course oftelemarketing goods and services, 

Defendants have made or caused telemarketers to malce outbound telephone calls in 



COUNT EIGHT 

Initiating Unlawful Prerecorded Messages on 01· after September 1, 2009 

55. In numerous instances on or after September 1, 2009, Defendants have 

initiated outbound telephone calls delivering prerecorded messages to induce the purchase of 

goods or services when the persons to whom these telephone calls were made had not 

eXlJressIy agreed, in writing, to authorize the seller to place prerecorded calls to such person. 

56. Defendants' acts or practices, as described in Paragraph 55 above, are abusive 

telemarketing acts or practices that yjolate the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 31 OA(b)(l)(v)(A). 

CONSUMER INJURY 

57. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a 

result of Defendants' 8esult have suffer yjolate the 



59. Section 19 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 57b, and Section 6(b) of the 

Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6105(b), authorize this Court to grant such relief as the Court 

finds necessary to redress injury to consumers resulting from Defendants' violations of the 

TSR, including the rescission or reformation of contracts, and the refund of money. 

PM YER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, Plaintiff FTC, pursuant to Sections 13(b) and 19 ofthe FTC Act, 15 

U.S.C. §§ 53(b) and 57b, and Section 6(b) ofthe Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.c. § 6105(b), 

and the Court's own equitable powers, requests that the Court: 

1. Award Plaintiff such preliminary injunctive and ancillary relief as may be 

necessary to avert the likelihood of consumer injury during the pendency of this action and to 

preserve the possibility of effective final relief, including but not limited to, temporary and 

preliminary injunctions, an order freezing assets, immediate access, and the appointment of a 

receiver; 

2. Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC Act and 

the TSR by Defendants; 

3. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers 

resulting from Defendants' violations of the FTC Act and the TSR, including 



4. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and 

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

Dated: November 8, 2010 

Respectfully Submitted, 

WILLARD K. TOM 
General Counsel 

( 
10 C.HALLER 
G YG.WARD 
C ESM.EVANS 
Federal Trade Commission 
55 West Monroe Street, Suite 1825 
Chicago, Illinois 60603 
(312) 960-5634 [telephone] 
(312) 960-5600 [facsimile] 
jhallerud@ftc.uov 
gwardralftc.goV 
cevansralftc.gOV 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSJON 
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